DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 314 834 EA 021 522

AUTHOR Montero-Sieburth, Martha

TITLE Classroom Management: Instructional Strategies and

the Allocation of Learning Resources. BRIDGES

Research Report Series, No. 4.

INSTITUTION Harvard Univ., Cambridge, MA. Inst. for International

Development.

SPONS AGENCY Agency for International Development (IDCA),

Washington, DC. Bureau of Science and Technology.

PUB DATE Apr 89

CONTRACT DDP-5824-A-5076

NOTE 39p.; The Basic Research and Implementation in

Developing Education Systems Project (BRIDGES) is directed by the Harvard Institute for International

Development and the Harvard Graduate School of

Education.

PUB TYPE Information Analyses (070) -- Reports -

Evaluative/Feasibility (14.)

EDRS PRICE MF01/PC02 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS Attitude Change; Change Strategies; *Classroom

Techniques; *Developing Nations; Elementary Education; Foreign Countries; Human Capital;

Incentives; Instructional Improvement; *Instructional
Innovation; Motivation; Recognition (Achievement);

*Resource Allocation; *Teaching Methods

ABSTRACT

Due to limited resources in developing countries, finding the most effective means to achieve educational goals demands finding alternatives with the lowest possible costs. Classroom management attempts to use the human and material resources already present to improve both the quality and the quantity of learning through time-on-task. The relevance of classroom management, which emphasizes teaching in relation to management and uses instructional materials and teacher-managed time to promote learning, in developing nations is examined within this document. Specifically, the literature reviewed indicates that: (1) for learning to occur, stable teacher and student attendance patterns--established through incentives, recognition, and goal achievement--must exist; (2) it is the teacher as a classroom manager who has the greatest influence on learning: and (3) the use of classroom time and instructional materials depends on the teacher's ability to organize, pace, monitor, and provide feedback to students. Instructional strategies and the allocation of learning resources present challenging tacks for the educational attainment of developing countries. Classroom management strengthens the teacher's knowledge of his or her role; by becoming more aware of this role and of the interactive aspects of the teaching-learning process, teachers can enhance students' ability to learn. (191 references) (KM)

Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made

from the original document. *



Martha Montero-Sieburth

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
Office of Educational Research and Improvement
EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION
CENTER (ERIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it

Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality

 Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy

B • R • I • D • G • E • S

Basic Research and Implementation in DevelopinG Education Systems

A project of the Harvard Institute for International Development, the Harvard Graduate School of Education, and the Office of Education, Bureau for Science and Technology, United States Agency for International Development

O T ERIC

The Basic Research and Implementation in DevelopinG Education Systems Project (BRIDGES) is directed by the Harvard Institute for International Development and the Harvard Graduate School of Education, under Cooperative Agreement No. DDP-5824-A-50/6 with the Office of Education, Bureau for Science and Technology. United States Agency for International Development Also participating in the Project are the Institute for International Research, Michigan State University, the Research Triangle Institute, and Texas Southern University.

The BRIDGES Group includes educators, researchers, planners and policymakers committed to improving opportunity and quality in Thirld World schools. The goal of their collaborative effort is to identify policy options that will increase children's access to schooling, reduce the frequency of early school leaving and repetition, improve the amount and quality of what is learned, and optimize the use of fiscal and educational resources.

The BRIDGES Research Report Series is edited by the Harvard Institute for International Development. The Series is a collection of reviews of the state-of the-art in research, and original research reports on basic education, in developing countries. Each review summarizes research about a particular policy issue and suggests policy options. Original reports on BRIDGES spensored research present new information about the impact and costs of specific alternatives that the reviews have identified as most promising.

The views expressed in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect those of the United States gency for International Development.

"Classroom Management: Instructional Strategies and the Allocation of Learning Resources"

Martha Montero-Sieburth

With assistance from Nona Lyons, Victoria Kelly-Suzuki, David Perkins, and Gerry Ewert.

Special thanks to Armando Loera-Varela for his work on instructional time.

Martha Montero-Sieburth is Assistant Professor of Education in Teaching, Curriculum and Learning Environments at the Harvard Graduate School of Education.



Classroom Management: Instructional Strategies and the Allocation of Learning Resources

Foreword

This paper provides a framework for the design and evaluation of policies intended to improve learning outcomes of schools. Montero-Sieburth argues that three major factors contribute to the amount of learning in schools:

- 1) the effective use of instructional materials,
- 2) the quality of academic a "rities and tasks, and
- 3) the amount of academic time spent on engaging students in learning.

Her paper focuses on policies that affect the first and third factors, use of instructional materials and the allocation and maintenance of "time on academic task."

The simplicity of this framework may mislead those who are accustomed to thinking of the educational process as tremendously complex, so much so that they resist attempts to make teaching "scientific" and instead proclaim it an "art form." It may challenge those who believe that reduction of education to a mere process of instruction takes the soul out of the educational endeavor, leaving only an empty shell of technique.

Montero-Sieburth's contribution, while simple, is not simplistic. It expands the creative role of teachers rather then minimizing it. Not only must teachers be innovative in implementation of the curriculum in response to variations in students, they must also be innovative in the development of instructional aids out of whatever materials the environment provides. Montero-Sieburth shifts the definition of teachers from "implementors of a centrally designed curriculum" to "classroom managers of a variety of resources," only some of which are provided by the administration. The t the major source of students' learning of values, skills, and knowledge. The question is, what can central ministries do to help teachers be more effective, given the resources that are already present in the system?

Improvement in the quality of instruction will come principally through curricular reforms (of the kind described in Thiagarajan and Pasigna, BRIDGES Research Report Series No. 2, 1988), and through improved pre-service and in-service training programs—but ministries can do much to increase effectiveness through policies that affect the academic time spent on the teaching-learning process.

In many education systems both curriculum and pedagogy are largely unimplemented, because neither teachers nor students spend enough time on teaching and learning. Nor are they aware of how time is used or wasted. Assumptions by the ministry about what will take place in classrooms are invalidated, as too little time is employed in the realization of pedagogic goals, and knowledge about classroom interactions is unknown. Systems fail to reach objectives not so much because the curriculum is bad, but because it is not fully used or relevant, and not so

The teacher remains the major source of students' learning of values, skills, and knowledge.



much because teaching is poor, but because there is not enough of it. This paper provides evidence to support the conclusion that policymakers seeking fairly prompt improvements in levels of teaching-learning should attend to increasing the already available time spent on academic tasks for teaching and learning.

The key elements in the framework for consideration of policy options are the teacher, students, and the resources available to the teacher. For each, time is the underlying dimension. Teacher time-on-task can be increased by reduction of absenteeism, reduction of time on non-academic activities at school, and a corresponding increase of time spent teaching the formal curriculum. Student time-on-academic tasks can be increased by relevant instructional materials, more frequent examinations, assignment of home-



iii

work, and parent involvement in the instructional endeavor. Time-on-task can also be increased through use of materials (textbooks, workbooks) that permit students to focus on the curriculum even when they are not being taught by the teacher.

Montero-Sieburth reviews available research, but it is evident that an even broader range of options exists both for policymakers and creative teachers. The contribution of this paper to a dialogue on policy options for the improvement of learning outcomes is its identification of the importance of the teacher in carrying out academic tasks while maintaining order through stable classroom organization.

Noel McGinn April 11, 1989



PRINCES RESEARCH REPORT SERIES

Classroom Management: Instructional Strategies and the Allocation of Learning Resources

Table of Contents











Executive Summary	2
Section I: Introduction	3
Purpose of Review	3
Significant Variables	3
Section II: Definition of Classroom Management	4
Applicability of Classroom Management to Developing Countries	5
Classrooms as Contexts	6
Latin American Composite Description	6
Section III: Factors That Limit Amount of Time Available	8
Teacher Availability	8
Student Absenteeism	9
Policy Recommendations	10
Section IV: Factors That Influence How Time is Spent	11
Instructional Time	11
Instructional Materials	14
Teacher Training	18
Policy Recommendations	18
Section V: Conclusion: Policy Options	20
Bibliography	23



',

Executive Summary

Because of present limited resources in developing countries, finding the most effective means to achieve educational goals demands finding alternatives with the lowest possible costs. This requires knowing how to best use the already available resources within the education system.

Classroom management attempts to use the human and material resources already present to improve the quality, as well as the quantity, of learning through time-on-task. This review deals with the relevance of classroom management to developing countries by emphasizing teaching in relation to management, and by the use of instructional materials and time as teacher-managed activites and strategies that lead to learning.

Generalizations from the review include the following:

• In order for learning to take place, stable teacher and student attendance patterns in developing country schools must exist. Teachers need participation incentives (where they are lacking) such as



...the idea that teachers can be managers requires a basic change in the concept of teachers as passive agents of the educational system.

recognized status, professionalization, and merit considerations. Students need recognition, knowledge and skill development, and goal achievement.

• A different perception of teachers and teaching, one directed at training teachers in more effective and efficient use of existing resources, needs to be adopted.

- Policymakers, local school administrators, and/or teachers can initiate changes, but it is the teacher as a classroom manager who has the greatest influence on learning. Acceptance of the idea that teachers can be managers and active decision makers, requires a basic change in the concept of teachers as passive agents of the educational system.
- Teachers deal with a series of complex situations in everyday teaching instruction, management, socialization, and discipline. With classroom management, teachers can control their students' behavior and learning through appropriate use of procedural strategies.
- The available resources to teachers in classrooms are time and instructional materials. However, the utilization of such resources depends on the teacher's ability to organize, pace, sequence, monitor, and provide feedback to students.
- Time spent on academic tasks yields learning outcomes, so time as a resource needs to be considered in light of time that is wasted. However, the quality of the task and student engagement are even more significant.
- The textbook is the most significant instructional material in developing nations. Its cost and production, however, make other learning options appealing.
- Instructional materials in themselves do not guarantee learning. Instead it is the way in which these materials are used that contributes to learning. Instructional materials are relevant in proportion to the students' and teachers' ability to use and interact with them.

The final section of this paper suggests recommendations to policymakers.



ت

Classroom Management: Instructional Strategies and the Allocation of Loarning Resources

Section I: Introduction

Purpose of Review

Those concerned with improving educational outcomes, but confronted by an under-financed education system, have three options:

- to use existing resources more effectively,
- to seek additional resources, or
- to reduce the number of children served.

The purpose of this paper is to suggest policy options for the more effective use of existing resources through improved management. The struggle for increased funding, especially for basic education, must continue but available resources can be employed in more effective ways.

The recommendations of the paper are for policy changes, but because the work of education takes place in classrooms, it is changes in classroom management practices that will have the greatest effect. The paper will (1) define classroom management; (2) clarify the application of classroom management to developing country contexts; (3) identify those variables that, while directly controlled by teachers, can be influenced by government policies, namely, utilization of instructional materials, including the use of textbooks, and the use of classroom time; and (4) address the potential of classroom management for developing policies directed at teacher education, textbook production, opportunities to learn within classrooms, and reduction of teacher and student absenteeism.

Signifi ant Variables

A nough this review discusses the effects of classroom management on school policies, it does not address issues of school organization, such as leadership of the principal, school administration, and community-school interface. (These issues will be addressed in another BRIDGES Research Report, "Recognizing, Fostering, and Modeling the Effectiveness of Schools as Organizations in Third World Countries" by John Schwille et al.) This review analyzes the classroom within the formal school setting.

In the following sections, the paper defines class-room management in terms of instructional and management strategies, and provides as an illustration a Latin Amerian composite case study of rural and urban classrooms. The paper then reviews research on how the policy variables of instructional time and materials affect learning outcomes. Policy implications and recommendations for future policy initiatives are discussed in the concluding section.

The recommendations of the paper are for policy changes, but because the work of education takes place in classrooms, it is changes in classroom management practices that will have the greatest effect.





Ü

Section II: Definition of Classicom Management

Classroom management as understood in the industrialized countries refers to "the provisions and procedures necessary to establish and maintain an environment in which instruction and learning can occur" (Duke, 1979: xii). According to Doyle (1986: 395), "... classroom teaching has two major task structures organized around the problems of learning and order. Learning is served by the instructional function (directed at individual cognitive engagement with academic content)...and order is served by the managerial function" directed at group participation. Brophy (1988:3) goes on to state that classroom management and instructional activities are simultaneous and inseparable: some minimal level of crderliness is essential for instruction to take place: at the same time, lessons must be designed to engage students' attention. Thus, classroom management entails not only teacher regulation of students' behavior through the establishment of rules and procedures and disciplinary interventions, but also the use of instructional strategies such as lecturing, questioning, recitation, seatwork, grouping, and the use of instructional materials to engage students in academic tasks. In short, classroom management is closely affiliated with teaching and classroom discourse (Brophy, 1988; Doyle, 1986).

Classroom management encompasses instruction ("actions assisting student in mastering formal curriculum"), student socialization ("actions intended to influence students' beliefs, attitudes, personal and social behaviors, expectations"), and disciplinary interventions ("actions intended to change disruptive behavior of students") (Brophy, 1988).



Teaching and management are the intervening factors between policy initiatives and educational outcomes. Thus a good teacher is described as:

a thoughtful practitioner who operates with considerable autonomy, yet purposefully works toward a set of goals that are simultaneously differentiated and integrated (Porter & Brophy, 1988:81).

Any attempt at utilizing classroom management strategies in developing countries needs to take into account the following caveats:

- 1) The nature of classroom management—which is linked to effective teaching, teacher thinking, and classroom discourse (Doyle, 1986)—in industrialized countries should not be translated as a set of techniques or a new technology separate from the control of the teacher in developing countries. It is most likely that approximations of classroom management are already in place in some developing countries through instructional delivery, uses of instruction, and direct and active teaching. Thus understanding that classroom management principles may not have a one-to-one correspondence in their application, but may be found in "approximations" to its practice, is important.
- 2) Evidence of the impact of classroom management in cross-cultural settings is yet unknown, although Brophy (1987:7) asserts "that there is no evidence that different classroom management principles apply to different racial or ethnic groups..." and that familiarity with the local languages and customs may enable teachers to respond more effectively to their students. Therefore classroom management practices will need to be experimented with in different contexts—rural, urban, semi-rural and urbanmarginal—and the cultural norms and values of a country will have to be considered.
- 3) The fundamental premise of classroom management is that the teachers' role is to maintain student engagement in academic endeavors rather than to focus on student distractions and discipline. However, such emphasis on disciplinary interventions will need to be considered within the context of developing countries. But insuring that students and teachers get to school and have instructional materials to work with may be more important than discipline issues.



- 4) The different attributes of classroom contexts such as multi-age groupings, large class sizes, maturity levels of students, available school facilities, the nature of urban and rural schools, and teacher expectations and attitudes, may present teaching/managing challenges of different magnitude in developing countries as compared to industrialized countries.
- 5) Finally, understanding the complexity of teaching and considering the importance of teachers as resources and managers within classrooms will require a different conceptualization of the teacher and his/her profession in developing countries.

For the purpose of this paper then, "classroom management" refers to teaching and management together. Teaching, understood as instructional strategies, and management, understood as patterns of use of instructional resources, are the dual concepts that explain how educational goals can be achieved through classroom practices. Teaching and management are the intervening factors between policy initiatives and educational outcomes. For example, the effects of policies with respect to production of materials and selection and training of teachers are mediated, or realized, through the instructional strategies and classroom management practices of teachers. Policymakers can make a better selection among options that affect teachers by understanding how classroom management practices affect learning outcomes, and how those practices are in turn influenced by central policies.



Each of these factor can be weighted differently, depending on context.

Applicability of the Concept of Classroom Management to Developing Countries

Educational efforts in the developing world have traditionally focused on issues of access, teacher availability, school facilities, and instructional materials—the quantitative allocation of resources. The prevailing rationale has been that once most students are in classrooms, and the teacher is present, then the basic conditions for schooling and learning a present. Acting on this premise, educational

policymakers usually focus first on issues of availability of resources and access and later on issues of quality. Allocation of resources alone without regard to the teaching process, however, does not guarantee learning. Rather, it is both the quantity and quality of the interaction between teachers and students that are relevant (Calderhead, 1984; Doyle, 1986).

Given limited resources, the best policy options are those that produce the same outcomes, but at lower cost, or that increase outcomes at no additional cost. Changes in classroom management practices are one way to do this. Educational quality then can be viewed as a function of:

...(a) the level of material inputs allocated to school per pupil (resource concentration), and (b) the level of efficiency with which a fixed amount of material inputs are organized and managed to raise pupil achievement (Fuller, 1985:23).

Fuller cautions that it is not the aggregated sum of various material inputs that accounts for levels of quality—more is not necessarily better—but the management capacity of teachers or how well they use resources in the classroom. Mere allocation of material inputs is, therefore, not enough. More innovative ways of understanding how schools work and how quality can be improved are the issues (Fuller, 1986:63). For example, although some gains in learning will result just from giving textbooks to children, learning gains can be increased much more if teachers organize students' use of the books.

To understand how to improve management capacity it is important to identify factors that are directly related to quality of education, particularly to classroom management. These factors include teacher background (including issues such as preand in-service training and teacher behaviors related directly to achievement), efficient use of instructional time, assessment of student performance, and use of instructional materials (Fuller, 1985:24).

While policymakers or school principals can initiate changes in the educational structure, the curriculum, and administration, it is teachers who are expected to have the greatest impact on learning. Acceptance of the idea of teachers as decision makers and managers requires a basic change in the notion of teachers as passive agents of the education system. As a result, the change in concept has policy implications: policymakers should take appropriate measures to enhance the management capability of teachers in order to improve educational outcomes.



Classrooms as Contexts

Teaching takes place in the classroom, a complex site where what happens is a function not only of the physical setting but also of the human participants, and their behaviors toward each other. Erickson and Shultz (1977) consider that:

Contexts are not simply given in the physical setting... nor in combination of personnel (two brothers, husband and wife, fireman). Rather, contexts are constituted by what people are doing and where and when they are doing it. As McDermott (1976) puts it succinctly, "people in interaction become environments for each other."

Classrooms vary in terms of student/teacher ratios, age ranges, levels of attrition, retention and repetition rates, provision of basic instructional materials and, in some cases, community support for schooling (Wells, 1976). The national curriculum cannot anticipate the different circumstances in which teachers must implement it. Furthermore, education systems with severe resource constraints spend most (often over 90%) of the annual budget on salaries, leaving little for material inputs. A teacher's capabilities to manage and direct learning activities under these conditions are critical.

Classrooms are defined by their location (rural, urban, semi-rural, and urban-marginal), size, number of students, region, grade distribution, resources, language of instruction (first or second language). numbers of teachers, and other criteria. Classrooms vary widely, from those developed by the community on an available plot of land, to those supported through local initiatives, and those receiving funding and materials from the government. In many countries, multigraded classrooms with one teacher for up to six grades are not unusual. Several common elements can be identified from observations made in rural and urban classrooms in Costa Rica (Brenes et al., 1987; Montero-Sieburth, 1983, 1986, 1987), Guatemala (Montero-Sieburth & Loera-Varela, 1986), Latin America (Arancibia, et al., 1986; Avalos, 1985; Munoz Izquierdo, et al., 1973; Moore, 1983) and Thailand (Classroom Environment Study Report, 1985). Understanding the context in which teachers work is essential for the identification of those classroom management practices that could be most effective in terms of learning outcomes. To facilitate the discussion in the rest of the paper, the following section is a composite description, based on

repeated observations, of a "typical" classroom in Latin America.

Latin American Composite Description Physical Layout

The classroom is situated in a large building with a physical layout that allows for benches to be placed across the room. Where there are no benches, chairs are brought in by students from their homes, or desks are provided. Sometimes there are so many desks or benches that students have to walk across them in order to reach the blackboard. The teacher's desk is to one side or at the front of the room; there are sometime, blackboards on one wall, and usually a cabinet with a lock. Bookshelves are scarce. Lighting is frequently provided by only one large window, since the other windows have been covered to avoid distractions. Hanging light wires or sockets without light bulbs are common. Depending on the vicinity, the classroom is either carpeted from wall to wall with students, or, in more rural areas, a scattering of students will be grouped in the center of the room with whatever available facilities there are. The blackboard shines since it has been painted over or had "milk" applied to give it a smooth surface for the chalk to move upon. Materials are scarce, especially chalk and pencils. Toilet paper is at such a premium it is kept by the teacher or is locked in a drawer and students have to ask for it when going to the bathroom. In some schools, toilet paper is nonexistent, unless provided by parents' groups or teachers.

Intersection of Instructional Delivery, Time, and Context with Behaviors

In general, the teacher's class delivery occurs in the following order. A roll call is taken by the teacher while students are asked to take out notebooks or textbooks from the locked cabinet. In some cases, the teacher hands out materials or has a few students distribute books. These activities alone take up 15% of the allocated class time. For the next 70% of the class time, the teacher presents information through lectures, asks questions, asks for recitation, dictates, writes notes on the board if chalk is available, checks homework either by moving around from seat to seat, or by having students line up and present their work individually, and monitors seatwork. During the



question and answer routines, the teacher directs questions to the entire 'ass and often expects a choral response. Questions are answered by the teacher when there is no response. Feedback on individual progress is infrequent and arbitrarily given; students' efforts do not often get the teacher's open recognition (verbal praise or acknowledgement). Much of the instruction is teacher-centered, with limited opportunity for students to be involved in experiments or to demonstrate their understanding of concepts. Much time is spent with teachers dictating or writing the homework assignments on the chalkboard, while students copy them down. Students use the blackboard for drills, homework exercises, or exemplification of answers to subject matter problems.

About one-third of this time is spent on discipline, transitions between learning activities, organizing sports and other non-academic activities, such as celebrations, festivities, etc., interruptions from school administration, from visiting parents, from students asking for permission to go to the bathroom, and on occasion from vendors selling their wares to teachers. Teachers discipline students either openly within the group or by taking students aside to reprimand them. Punishment may take the form of seating changes or segregating students in one corner of the classroom.

The teacher's engagement in activities does not mean that all students are also engaged in learning. In some instances, as the teacher sits down to grade notebooks with students clustering around him or her, the rest of the class may be reading silently, drawing, or talking with each other. Engagement may be social, rather than academic. In some instances, class time is broken up by the school lunch or breakfast which is prepared and eaten during recess. In Guatemala, a high protein drink called incaparina is served during recess at about 10:30 a.m. It serves to sustain the students until the end of the school day at noon.

In other instances, time for teaching subject matter per week is allocated by guidelines from the central educational office, and the teacher organizes her/his time accordingly. In most cases, the teacher controls the subject matter preference. In general, language arts, mathematics, and in some cases, religion are more frequently

taught than science or social studies. For the remaining 15% of the available time, the teacher will dictate new information, write the homework assignments and exercises on the blackboard to reinforce the lessons, or organize non-academic activities in preparation for celebrations or sports activities. The social dimensions of community life intersect with schooling to the degree that preparation for celebrations or sports may consume much of the academic learning time available, significantly reducing the actual total of school attendance days.

Instructional materials, including pencils. blackboards, and paper, are limited; those available are usually controlled by the teacher. In some cases, the materials are provided by the central education office or local parents' group; in others, textbooks are commercially produced, bought by families with means, and used as a guide by the teacher. Where textbooks are scarce, they are shared in groups of twos, threes or fours. The teacher's book is sometimes the only instructional material. The use of real-life objects such as vegetables and plants for instruction is common. Textbooks are collected either by one student, or brought by individual students to the teacher for storage after the lesson is over. At the end of the school day, students leave with their notebooks to complete the remaining homework assignment.

This composite description of a "typical" class-room suggests that although the presence of instructional materials is important, how they are used is the more critical question. The resources used within classrooms, their cultural relevance, and the creativity of the teacher are not always considered. How teachers and students spend their time in the classroom, how they use materials, how they interact with each other, would seem to be the critical determinants of learning. We turn now to research on use of time.

Section III: Factors That Limit Amount of Time Available

Time as a resource is finite; there is only so much of it. The total amount of time available to teachers for instruction, and to students for learning in the classroom, is limited or constrained by the presence of teachers and students in the classroom. This section reviews research on teacher and student absenceeism, and suggests policy options to reduce both, thereby increasing the total amount of time each is present in school.

Teacher Availability and Absenteeism

Not only is there a severe shortage of (qualified) persons willing to teach in rural areas (Dworkin, 1980; Marsh, 1984), but there are also high rates of



Time as a resource is finite; there is only so much of ii.

teacher absenteeism. In the countryside, the loss of a teacher often means the closing of a school. Absenteeism is defined as long term absence by a teacher, or chronic, short term absences where no substitute teachers are available. Teacher turnover, the departure of teachers from school in order to leave the teaching assignment or the teaching profession, is considered here as a special aspect of teacher availability.

Research reports and statistics on teacher availability in developing countries are scanty. Systematic research on teacher attendance is limited. The World Bank, for example, in a report on sub-Saharan African education describes the following:

In rural areas, classes of 80 or more pupils are not uncommon. These classes may be held in dilapidated structures, frequently without roofs which usually means that teaching is suspended whenever it rains. In many class-

rooms there are virtually no educational inputs to be found other than the teacher at the front of the room - no books to read, no benches to sit on, write on and make calculations. There are many reports, too, of teachers who are chronically absent from work. especially in settings where housing for teachers is in short supply or the payment of teachers' salaries is unpredictable. It is inconceivable that very much learning can occur under these conditions... in some African countries - especially in remote rural areas, there are reports of teachers leaving the profession to work in other sectors of the economy...Often the major complaint of teachers assigned to unfamiliar rural areas is the absence of good housing. Frequently, there is not available even rental housing of a reasonable standard (World Bank, 1986).

In some rural Latin American countries, observers report teachers are absent because they must attend meetings or bring official reports to a capital, or take care of some responsibility in off-school premises (Montero-Sieburth, 1986; Fuller, 1985). In Kenyan rural schools, teachers are reported to take off half or whole days from school to attend to second jobs, usually on farms or in small shops. In such situations, students are occasionally monitored by teachers from another classroom, or by older students, but for the most part spend their time unsupervised and untaught (Githiora, 1987).

Absenteeism is the consequence of other elements in the teacher's life. For example, it is likely that teachers' attendance is determined by location of residence, availability of transport, existence of roads, and health conditions. Information about the teacher's life could, therefore, be a starting point for policies to reduce teacher absenteeism.

Practices and policies for the assignment of teachers to schools vary from country to country. In some countries (e.g., Mexico, Pakastan) new teachers are routinely assigned to the more remote schools, no matter what the teacher's background is. Given the adverse conditions of life in rural areas, teachers attempt to transfer to more favorable locations. The



result is that rural schools have a high rate of teacher turnover and largely inexperienced teachers (Marsh, 1984), both of which have negative effects on student learning outcomes (Githiora, 1987).

Ankrah-Dove (1982) identifies two models useful to policymakers considering the assignment of teachers to rural areas: the rural deficit model and the rural challenge model. The rural deficit model takes the perspective that life in rural communities is unattractive to teachers and that consequently they must be compulsorily posted and/or receive a host of incentives to keep them there. The rural challenge model takes the perspective that the rural school provides a special challenge for the motivated teacher and that teachers should be specially trained towards the attainment of the personal maturity and self-reliance necessary to accept that challenge. At the same time, as an added incentive, rural teachers should have career opportunities that equal those of urban teachers.

The implications of Ankrah-Dove's work are that dissatisfaction and turnover among teachers could be reduced by assignment and incentives policies that take into account the career objectives and personal circumstances of teachers. For example, persons who have entered teaching seeking intellectual development can be expected to stay in rural areas only if they are provided with opportunities to continue to develop their intellectual abilities, for example, through in-service training programs. Persons who enter teaching for monetary rewards or job security will not respond to these kinds of incentives, and instead must be offered premiums for working in isolated areas, or long-term contracts. Policies for reducing teacher absenteeism should be context specific, which means that decisions about their application will have to be made in the school, or at the district level.

Efforts in the United States suggest that teacher attendance can be improved by stressing the importance of the issue, documenting and publishing actual costs of teacher absences, making the attendance record part of teacher evaluation, and involving the teacher's immediate supervisor. Absence rates have dropped when teachers talk directly to a supervisor, and therefore have the opportunity to make some alternative arrangement that makes a full day's absence unnecessary (Elliot, 1982).

The implications for developing countries are that policies for reducing teacher absenteeism should be context specific and directed at the school evel. Teacher involvement, through mechanisms

such as self-reports, may be inducements to the teacher's own continued attendance, particularly when shared during teachers' meetings. The cost to students of teacher absences can only be speculated upon, but in terms of what this may mean for student achievement or for student participation in school. most educators believe that the cost is significant. Indications from the study and analysis of educational costs for Costa Rica suggest that teacher absenteeism is not only frequent but costly since it is tied to socialized medical visits and also requires hiring substitute teachers (Sanguinetty, 1988). Higher teacher absenteeism or turnover usually means less learning opportunity. Moreover, teacher absenteeism also reinforces educational inequality, as it is more frequent in those areas where the presence of a teacher is the only opportunity to receive schooling.

Student Absenteeism

Educational "wastage," in the research literature for developing countries, refers to a trio of school attendance issues: absence, repetition, and dropping out. For policymakers and researchers, the three issues must be considered together (UNESCO, 1984). "Student absenteeism" is usually defined as chronic student absence from school for reasons other than serious illness or other temporary life situations; "repotition" as the academic failure that, as a consequence, forces a student to be retained in the previous grade; and "dropping out" as a student's departure from school for more than a year. Absenteeism. repetition, and dropping out are closely connected (McDill, Natriello, and Pallas, 1985). For instance, Arancibia (1987) reports that in Latin America high levels of repetition increase the dropout rate, although the correlation between student absenteeism and achievement is inconsistent. In particular, Munoz Izquierdo et al. (1979) found that in Mexico, teacher absenteeism and low teacher expectations exacerbate student absenteeism. High rates of student absenteeism, in turn, are associated with high repetition rates and low rates of school completion.

The situation of women and girls is especially acute (Kelly and Altbach, 1986; Safilios-Rothschild, 1979). UNESCO reports:

In general, the overall trends indicate that women's access to primary education continues to be least in the low income nations of Africa, Asia, but not of Latin America, as well as in North Africa and the Middle East. In these areas, about one-third or less of the primary students are women (UNESCO,1984).



Educational "wastage" is also generally higher in rural areas and for female students, but "it is also of interest to note that although girl students show greater rates of educational wastage than boys, their wastage is more often due to dropping out while boys' is more often due to repetition of grades" (The World Bank, 1986). Generally, girls' absence from primary school seems to be due less to academic failure than to withdrawing from school for nonscholastic reasons. Boys, on the other hand, tend to remain in school regardless of scholastic performance (Safilios-Rothschild, 1979). However, depending on the context, especially where industrial employment exists, boys drop out and girls stay in. While research indicates that girls drop out to engage in some economic activity, such as becoming workers, mothers' helpers, or guardians, or because they become pregnant, the particular features which cause girls' absences have not been systematically documented. However, in spite of the general trend of reduced learning opportunities for girls, a study from Pakistan (Malik, 1985) found that the dropout rate for girls is just slightly above that for boys, while girls tend to repeat more frequently than boys. No differences were found comparing results from urban and rural areas.

Among the solutions recomrended for the alleviation of absenteeism and dropping out in developing countries are: compulsory primary school education; availability of free textbooks and other educational materials; food programs, including breakfast and lunch; health care, including inoculations against infectious disease; programs to help reduce time spent by rural women in household tasks; adapting school calendars to rural labor needs; intensification of training women as primary school teachers; separate school facilities for girls, with women teachers; changing criteria for teacher promotion to include the percentage of girls who finish school; freeing texts of sexist content; and providing literacy programs for illiterate mothers.

One World Bank Report (Haddad, 1979) surveyed two components of educational wastage, repetition, and dropping out, and identified critical variables for policy considerations. In Haddad's report, repetition is considered a higher contributor to wastage because it is a main cause of inefficiency in a school system and because it directly affects dropout rates. In addition, educational costs are greatly increased, Haddad asserts, by high repetition rates which tend to have negative effects on learning.

Haddad has examined criteria for promotion, and concluded that promotion is usually determined by school-based tests which ignore higher level cognitive assessments and the attainment of important social goals of education. He concluded that promotion criteria such as these do not justify their determinative power. While automatic promotion is not proposed as a means to reduce repetition, it is suggested that: 1) new measures be used to assess the rate of learning in the cognitive, affective and social dimensions; 2) promotion standards be modified where retention is very high; 3) school facilities be improved to encourage attendance; and 4) nor.-graded curricula and ability-grouping practices be used.

Several countries have attempted to reduce educational wastage by implementing preschool programs that help children to adjust to the school environment. Halpern and Myers (1985) conclude in a review of the literature that preschool programs have a modest impact on initial adjustments, although the impact are higher in the developing countries. However, other practices, such as automatic promotion or remedial programs for students that fail, seem to rapidly overcome the impact of early schooling. Preschool programs are more controllable and may result in lower costs. However, their ability to reduce waste or increase academic achievement has not been investigated sufficiently.

Policy Recommendations

- To provide an adequate number of teachers for rural schools, policymakers need to offer both material and non-material incentives to teachers. To effect this policy, ministries of education must be able to differentiate between the career orientations of candidates for teacher positions, and must have the authority to award incentives differentially.
- Teacher absenteeism can be reduced by increased supervision of teachers, either by supervisors or headmasters; by increased motivation (through training opportunities and the like); and by reduction of bureaucratic demands on teachers' time that take them away from their classrooms.
- Policy options to reduce student absenteeism include policies that increase learning, thereby reducing failure and repetition. These can include readiness programs, such as pre-school, or programs to improve quality of instruction. (See sections that follow.) Provision of material incentives such as lunch, health care, and uniforms may act to reduce absenteeism.



Section IV: Factors That Influence How Time is Spent

The previous section reviewed research on factors that limit the total amount of time teachers and students spend in classrooms. This section looks at research on determinants of how teachers and students spend their time in classrooms. The thesis of this section is that the more time students and teachers spend on tasks directly related to the curriculum, the more students will acquire the knowledge, skills, and values that the curriculum is meant to convey. In other words, the more time-on-task, the more learning.

At the same time, of course, how much is learned depends on how that time is spent. Teaching and learning time can vary considerably in terms of "quality", that is, in terms of how much is actually learned as a consequence. (For example, a "boring" teacher can spend even more time than an "exciting" teacher covering a point, and teach less.) Amount of learning is a function of the time spent learning multiplied by the efficiency (or quality) of that time.

This section looks at ways in which teachers can manage time, and instructional materials, to increase not only the amount of time spent on instruction, but the quality of that time.

Instructional materials include: textbooks, workbooks, reading materials, teachers' guides, reference books, maps, charts, games, models, pictures, radio, tapes, slides, motion pictures, and television. Instructional materials are an important variable because they complement, supplement, or replace direct instruction. As such, instructional materials directly affect teachers' instructional and management capacity. When teachers have textbooks and guidebooks these n ay compensate in part for lower levels of education and training. These materials are the medium which translate curriculum goals into instruction and learning. Finally, textbooks can extend the opportunity to learn and continue to engage students beyond the classroom when students read them at home. The effective management of instructional time often involves creative use of instructional materials, but this optimal use of time is only possible when materials are available.

According to Lockheed (1987) and Fuller (1986),

the influence of school variables on student performance in developing countries is greater than in developed countries where student background variables are more likely to have an effect. Among the school factors that are consistently related to student achievement are the presence and use of instructional materials, time spent on learning, and teacher education (Lockheed, 1987).

Teachers have primary control of the use of instructional materials and directly influence student time spent on learning: this can be called a "proximal" variable with respect to learning out mes. Teacher education, and the availability of instructional materials are more "distal" variables, and are controlled principally by persons outside the school. The rest of this section discusses in detail the use and provision of instructional materials.

The effective management of instructional time often involves creative use of instructional materials, but this optimal use of time is only possible when materials are available.



Instructional Time

The Relationship Between Time and Achievement

The relationship of time to achievement has been researched since the 1920s (Smyth, 1985b) in the United States, but the most inspirational study has been Carroll's School Learning Model (Carroll, 1963) which treats learning as a function of time. The model considers learning to be directly influenced by the time that students need to learn, and the quality of instruction given, as well as the time students actually spend on learning (Carroll, 1985).

Degree of Learning = f time actually spent time needed



The notion of time-on-task is based on the theory that pupils learn by participation and experience.

Allocated time is the time set aside for teaching and learning activities, and is defined by the number of years required to obtain a diploma, the number of school days in a school year, the number of hours in each school day, and the proportion of a school day that is dedicated to a particular subject matter. Teachers have control over allocated time by the way in which they use it to engage students in learning. (This is known as the time-on-task, or engaged time and academic learning time.) Student learning is affected by how time is actually used, not by the amount of time available (Stalling, 1983). Effective teaching and appropriate task context are necessary to produce achievement gains within the allocated time (Cotton & Savard, 1981). The notion of timeon-task is based on the theory that pupils learn by participation and experience. How time can be used on-task, however, depends on the subject matter, the availability of instructional materials, and how teachers organize such resources (Harnischfeger & Wiley, 1985).

In Mexico, a typical teacher underutilizes 50% of the allocated time by absenteeism, interruptions, lack of planning, early leaving, and non-academic tasks (Munoz Izquierdo et al., 1979). In addition, teachers spend triple the amount of time on reading and writing lessons in the morning sessions as they do in the afternoon sessions. the afternoon sessions have more off-task activities. In Colombia, off-task time has been estimated at 40% (Arancibia et al., 1985). Although it is neither possible nor desirable to spend all academic time-on-task, reducing wastelime will certainly make more time for learning.

The reported correlation between time-on-task and achievement ranges from .09 to .44, mostly in math and reading classes (Frederick & Walberg, 1980). Although a some cases the impact on achievement is positive but not statistically significant (Seifert & Beck, 1983, 1984), in other cases, such as in an Australian study, time-on-task has a strong impact on achievement, accounting for approximately 58% of the variance (Leach & Tunnecliffe, 1984). In Thailand, the time-on-task in mathematics classes was the only classroom-level factor associated significantly with achievement (Classroom Environment Study Report, 1985).

Time and Instruction

From the instructional perspective, how time is used for academic engagement must be considered in connection with pacing and grouping. Pacing is the

rate at which instruction covers a specific amount of curriculum content in a certain time (Karweit, 1983). Some studies have found diverse pacing procedures; however, most teachers pace their instruction to accommodate low achievers (Dahlof, 1971), and this negatively affects the more able students (Barr, 1976). Time-on-task has more impact on students at or below their class mean than on students above their class mean (Karweit & Slavin, 1981). Pacing is affected by the accumulated knowledge and hierarchical nature of the subject matter (Karweit, 1978). During transitions from one activity to another in class, much of the time is off-task and hence affects student engagement (Arlin, 1979).

Seatwork is a very common way of grouping. It requires students to perform tasks, usually reading or writing, on their own, often without direct supervision from the teacher. Research in Thailand indicates that about 30% of teaching activities involved written seatwork (Classroom Environment Study Report, 1985). The impact of seatwork on learning and achievement depends on the availability and appropriateness of textbooks, workbooks, or ditto materials, and the monitoring skills of the teacher. When instructions are not clear and tasks are perceived as too difficult to accomplish, low achievers cannot benefit from seatwork (Anderson, Brubaker, Alleman-Brooks, & Duffy, 1983). As student engagement is positively associated with substantive academic interaction between teachers and students, seatwork which requires students to work on their own decreases interaction and thus often increases time-off-task (Seifert & Beck, 1984; Filby & Cahen, 1985).

Most of the above-mentioned teaching strategies are commonly used in developing countries, although their effectiveness in such environments is controversial. In Thailand, for example, these crategies have been related to achievement (Classroom Environment Study Report, 1985) but in Latin America such strategies have been identified as promoters of non-active learning and related to low achievement (Arancibia, 1986). In some African countries, these teacher-centered strategies are regarded as appropriate to local cultural expectations (Windham, 1985).

In general, teachers can improve student timeon-task by planning activities, giving clear instructions, clarifying the specific objectives to be accomplished, taking student needs and level of ability into account, making high success opportunities avail-



able, and praising students for correct responses (Martin & Canty, 1980).

Homework as an Extension of Time-on-Task

Homework is a very common instructional practice to engage students in learning. Despite its general use, however, it is only recently that researchers have demonstrated its connection with achievement. A review of cross-national strategies conducted by the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) indicated that time spent on homework was one of the best predictors of achievement, when controlling for ability (Wolf, 1979). Consistently, additional cross-national studies report that in six of the eight available studies homework tended to have a positive impact on achievement. In fact, it is one of the school practices that shows a high positive relationship with achievement (Schiefelbein & Simmons, 1981).

At this time, the research question is not whether homework should be required, but rather for which students and with which tasks, sequences, and structures (Coulter, 1979; Pendergrass, 1985). These questions help to find strategies for successful homework management. A study in Venezuela finds teachers specially trained in providing written feedback on homework are able to significantly increase achievement among their students (Elawar and Corno, 1985).

Other studies show that homework does not improve learning without family support. While the mother is usually the most directly involved in homework, siblings are the helpers in societies where the older generations had no access to schooling. This is the case, for example, among Arabs of the rural areas of Israel (Tamir, 1985).

Finally, school-based home instruction, in which specially trained parents extend or multiply the quality and quantity of academic instruction beyond school time, reduces student time dedicated to "noneducational activities." A quantitative synthesis of 29 studies shows that providing instruction to parents has been successful in over 90% of the cases, improving achievement from the 50th to the 69th percentile of the control group distribution (mean effect at 76th percentile). This strategy, however, is more expensive than homework, and assumes such contextual factors as family and cultural support for learning (Frederick & Walberg, 1980).

Time and Alternative Instructional Approaches

There are alternative approaches that use time in a different way from the conventional classroom: mastery learning allows individual learners to pace their own learning; the Adaptive Learning Environment Model increases the academic engagement time; the Reduced Instructional Time approach reduces the time students need to learn. These delivery systems require the development of special instructional materials, a reorganization of the time frame of study, and a redefinition of the role of the teacher. The following section describes these approaches in more detail.

• Mastery Learning

Based on Carroll's model, the mastery learning approach assumes that students with different ability levels require different amounts of time to accomplish the same tasks. Therefore, each student should be given the time she or he needs to accomplish the objective. The curriculum content is broken down into small units of learning to be mastered at the student's own pace. Formative evaluation is provided after the student has completed each unit. The student then moves on to the next level, again at his or her own pace. Individualized teaching and extratime tutoring are commonly used in this approach (Bloom, 1968).

The mastery learning approach incurs more costs because of the need to train teachers for their new role as tutors, and to develop special materials. However, its supporters consider that the quality effects justify the increase in costs. Critics argue that the quality effects are overstated, although it is not known whether the difference in achievement is due to the increase in time available for slow learners, or to the increased attention and monitoring by the teacher.

Mastery learning has been introduced in Bolivia as a didactic model to improve the quality of instruction (Pena, 1986). However, policymakers should be aware that it has not been preven able to enhance learning at all levels for all kinds of students and that it requires a significant increase in costs.

Adaptive Learning Environment

The Adaptive Learning Environment Model (ALEM) is designed to provide more learning opportunities in regular classrooms through self-paced and individualized instructional strategies. The goals are to permit teachers to spend more time in instruction, to help students to use their learning time more



...some developing countries have few or no instructional resources. In these instances adding a little can make a big impact on achievement.

efficiently, and to improve achievement. Teachers develop skills to monitor student accomplishments, and students are responsible for completing the tasks that are determined by them and the teachers.

This model has increased teacher time on instructional activities and student engaged time in relevant academic activities, and has improved achievement significantly. The program has been applied mainly in mathematics and it is not known how effective it will be with less structured subject matter (Wang, 1985). The ALEM's approach is especially useful in multigraded classrooms and is cost-effective since its aim is to reduce learning time. It also requires minimal organizational change (Thiagarajan & Pasigna, 1988).

• Reduced Instructional Time Project

The Reduced Instructional Time project (RIT) in Thailand is one of the best organized low cost learning systems. Its objectives are to find effective instructional methods to reduce the time students need to learn, and to develop appropriate materials to reduce the time teachers need to provide instruction. The RIT project has been successfully implemented in multigraded schools with a student/teacher ratio of 70:1. Instructional materials have been developed and used to foster individual and peer learning, so as to free teachers to monitor students' time-on-task, to help students improve their learning skills, and to provide remedial teaching. The role of teachers changes from being the only source of instruction to managing materials and activities. Teacher instruction time was reduced by 20-30% in the first grade. 30-40% in the second grade, and by 50-90% from the third to the sixth grades (Nichols, 1982; Thiagarajan & Pasigna, 1988).

Although the RIT requires initial investments in material development, teacher training, and organizational changes, it has proven to be cost-effective because it reduces time spent on non-instructional activities, and improves both the quality of instruction and student achievement. Moreover, RIT shows an equalizing effect, as achievement levels for students in rural schools have been raised to those of students in large schools from urban areas (Thiagarajan & Pasigna, 1988).

The research on instructional time reveals that this variable can be controlled by educational policymakers and teachers to raise achievement, regardless of exogenous factors such as socioeconomic background (Heyneman and Loxley, 1983). Improved time management is cost-effective because it focuses on the intensive and effective use of time, an existing

resource, to improve learning, without calling for additional resources.

The improvement of teachers' instructional and management skills is, therefore, a promising policy option for the improvement of learning outcomes and school efficiency. We have discussed several kinds of policies to improve these skills: training for teachers, development and distribution of appropriate instructional materials, development and distribution of materials for self-instruction by students (e.g., workbooks). The table below summarizes what research suggests is the academic impact of policies that affect time-on-task by teachers and students.

A Summary of Research on the Academic Impact of Policies that Affect Time-on-Task

		Academic Impact		
Time-on-Task Policy Options	High	Moderate	Low	
Academic learning time	x			
Pacing		x		
Seatwork			x	
Direct Teaching	x			
Mactery Learning		x		
ALEM/RIT	x			
Homework	Ж	.		
School-based home instruction	x			

Instructional materials can be broadly divided into two categories: textbooks, which are the most basic of all learning materials, and other materials which include word cards, worksheets, notebooks, dittos, fact sheets, various forms of audiovisual materials, homemade materials from the environment, and programmed materials.

\$ 18 february ment by comme

In contrast to industrialized countries where there are a lot of instructional materials, some developing countries have few or no instructional resources. In these instances adding a little can make a big impact on achievement. Having any materials at all becomes increasingly important (Windham, 1985; Thiagarajan & Pasigna, 1988).

Many researchers argue that the availability of the textbook appears to be the most consistent school factor in predicting academic achievement. One



The complexity of the tasks of educational publishing is one reason why quality textbooks are rare.

multinational study reports correlations between textbooks and educational aspirations and achievement in Chile, while educational attainment among underprivileged minority children in Malaysia was found to be particularly associated with textbook availability (Heyneman, 1978). In Uganda, a strong correlation was found between textbook availability in the classroom and student examination performance regardless of student socioeconomic status, and El Salvadorean children without textbooks achieved significantly lower test scores than those who had textbooks (Heyneman, 1978). The Philippines study also reports that the production and distribution of high quality text materials substantially improve student knowledge of science, mathematics and language (Heyneman et al., 1984).

The above mentioned Chilean study — on the influence of school resources, especially textbooks — demonstrated that (1) educational variables are more powerful predictors of occupational attainment than family social status; (2) changes in achievement levels are primarily explained by quality of education rather than family backgrounds; and (3) the main problems connected with textbook utilization are negative teacher attitudes and the inability of pocrer children to purchase them (Schiefelbein and Sepulveda, 1983).

What the high correlation between textbooks and achievement shows is not only the effect on the individual student, but also the effect a teacher has when using textbooks.

When few or no students have textbooks, the teacher has to use the textbook as a guide, and rely on the blackboard or on oral dictation; and students have to copy materials into their own notebooks....This wastes the time and energy of both teacher and students. Where most or all student, have texts, a teacher has the option of working with small groups...and of engaging in other teaching practices. If this is the case then textbooks may be important not simply as learning aids for individual students who have them, but as a necessary condition for teachers to use more effective teaching techniques (Heyneman, 1978:23).

Textbooks, however, are often not available in developing countries. The acute shortage of textbooks adversely affects teachers' ability to teach and manage the class:

(In) Liberia in 1983, a majority of classrooms had few if any textbooks for every twenty primary school students. In Somalia in 1984...a shortage of 2,280,000 textbooks existed relative to what the national curriculum required for primary education. Even in Botswana, a relatively prosperous nation with a geographically concentrated population and good transportation...in 1984... shortages of textbooks and delayed delivery of instructional materials [were common]" (Windham, 1985:35).

That instructional materials so basic as the text-book are not made available is due to many reasons. Many developing countries do not provide free text-books because their educational expenditures are limited, and this puts children from poor families at a severe disadvantage. In Ecuador, for example, updated first grade textbooks were made available in 1970 but were priced at slightly more than a day's wage for a laborer (Heyneman, 1978). This is a prohibitive cost for poor families. Another reason for the nonavailability of textbooks is the problem with the delivery system. Many rural areas are inaccessible, and thus ever with a free distribution system, textbooks do not always get delivered.

The complexity of the tasks of educational publishing is one reason why quality textbooks are rare. Textbooks must be accurate in content, up-to-date, and educationally sound; otherwise they may encourage counterproductive teaching methods. A study of mathematics textbooks in the Dominican Republic found that the textbooks taught mathematics "as a set of rules, a rigid discipline in which there is little place for creativity" (Luna et al., 1956:9). Futhermore, good textbooks must also be visual and

offer structure, variety, and present materials in different vays...(They) should motivate ...and reinforce...(Textbooks) must be organized and divided into units that fit the classroom situation and the time available for teaching the subject...(They) should provide for individualization, for the different abilities represented in the classroom... Good textbooks require creative and seasoned authorship, developed and supported by a professional organization specializing in educational publishing"(Neuman, 1980:11).

Textbook publishing entails selecting and coordinating an author team; coordinating content with curriculum; determining the general appearance of



Teachers select the textbooks that they consider suitable to their students' backgrounds and abilities.

the book; creation of the artwork; specifying the typesetting, printing, and binding; determining the need for ancillary materials to accompany the student textbooks; setting prices; marketing; warehousing and distribution; collecting feedback from teachers. Reviewing, editing, rewriting, testing, and reediting the content material are essential to the process of producing good textbooks. This process often takes several years (Neumann, 1980; Searle, 1985).

Textbooks are often of poor quality because of the lack of creative and seasoned authors who should be subject specialists and educational communicators at the same time, and also because of the lack of editorial and management expertise. The publishing tasks are complex, and there has not been comprehensive planning and long term commitment. In comparison, financing may be less of a problem because publishing does not involve very advanced or expensive technology (Pearce, 1982; Searle, 1985).

There are, however, success stories of governments publishing and distributing free textbooks, the Mexican case being one of the most notable of them. Mexico has had twenty years of experience with the development, publication, and distribution of free primary school textbooks (Neumann and Cunningham, 1982). Not only is the government able to provide every child with free textbooks in Spanish, but it has also published textbooks in a number of indigenous languages. The textbooks are colorful and well designed. Teachers select the textbooks that they consider suitable to their students' backgrounds and abilities. The Mexican government accords the production and distribution of textbooks the same priority as teachers' salaries and school buildings in its budget allocations. At the same time, the government also supports a dynamic private publishing industry.

The Mexican experience shows that textbooks must be a long-range government commitment supported by regular and adequate annual expenditure. In the Mexican case, this has ranged from between 2-4% of the total annual educational expenditures. The lesson here is that development of an effective textbook program requires a serious political commitment, as well as adequate funding.

Relevance of Instructional Materials

Relevance refers to the match between textbook characteristics and the interests and values of students, parents, community members, and the larger society. It is possible for materials to be highly relevant at one level, e.g., for one community but less so for another. In general, national curriculum boards are concerned only with relevance at the national level. The correlation between the degree of relevance of instructional materials and level of student achievement has been evaluated in several studies.

Chesterfield (1978) found that rural Brazilian elementary school children made statistically significant gains in word use and descriptive power in reading and writing after a year of using ins uctional materials (textbooks, charts, and posters) containing words and imagery appropriate to the locale but with structural situations equivalent to the basic first-grade text used in the area. In a multinational study of bilingual education programs, Dutcher (1982) found that minority language children who received primary instruction in their mother tongue, were more likely to improve academically than were minority children taught in a second langauge. This is attributed, in part, to the fact that literacy attainment is more easily achieved in a first language if the child has reached a cognitive level appropriate for learning basic skills. In the National Education Commission's review of Thailand, "Determinants of Effective Schools," BRIDGES' Education Development Discussion Paper #1, the use of comic books in contrast to conventional methods vas shown to promote effective learning, particularly in relation to health education in the seventh grade.

Finally, a UNESCO report of a Study Group Meeting for the Education of Disadvantaged Groups and Multiple Class Teaching in Asia and the Pacific (1980) described a number of programs—most of them in small rural schools or disadvantaged urban schools—tailored to the needs of minority, female, and handicapped children, including the use of instructional materials in tribal languages and self-learning modules for multiple-grade classrooms. Preliminary evaluations of most of these programs report positive gains in student achievement and teacher satisfaction.

Utilization of Textbooks

How textbooks are utilized makes a difference in learning. The Dominican study finds no achievement gains in schools which have textbooks (Luna et al., 1986). The ZIMSCI teacher training project in Zimbabwe reports no change in learning outcomes when teachers were not trained in the use of available textbooks. A Chilean study also confirms that "less



...a study in Ghana finds positive correlations between the use of daily newspapers as instructional materials and reading achievement.

experienced teachers are less likely to use textbooks than those with more experience, and 78 percent of all the teachers in the survey expressed negative or ambivalent attitudes toward the use of textbooks" (Psacharopoulos and Woodhall, 1985). In other words, merely providing teachers or students with textbooks does not ensure that teachers will use them in instruction, nor that gains in learning will result.

These findings point out the importance of teacher training in using textbooks to improve their teaching and learning outcomes. The introduction of new textbooks and new curriculum, therefore, requires careful preparation, promotion, and publicity. Teacher's editions and allied materials are particularly helpful to less qualified teachers. At the same time, a well structured program of teacher training should include the analysis and effective use of textbooks (Neumann, 1980).

Other Instructional Materials

Instructional materials other than textbooks have been shown to have an effect upon achievement. For example, a study in Ghana finds positive correlations between the use of daily newspapers as instructional materials and reading achievement (Heyneman, 1978). A Brazilian study reports that the reading and writing abilities of primary school children improve after using posters and charts depicting environmentally-specific words and imagery (Chesterfield, 1978). An experimental study in Venezuela finds improvement in children's achievement in mathematics when teachers provide written feedback (Elawar and Corno, 1985).

In othe words, there are several kinds of instructional materials—of which textbooks are one—that use print to communicate information and to generate learning. The choice of material should depend on ease of production and distribution, unit cost, and relative effect on learning outcomes.

"Mastery learning" is an effective teaching strategy that uses programmed instructional materials. The materials present the subject matter divided into small units, require frequent student response with immediate feedback, and have been successful in developed countries (Kulik, Shwarb, and Kulik, 1982; Anderson, 1985). Such projects in the Philippines (Chapman and Boothroyd, 1986), Indonesia (Mudhiman, 1981), Liberia (Nichols, 1982), and Thailand (Potar, 1984) play a significant role in improving the efficiency of primary education. The Thai RIT project reports higher learning gains for experi-

mental groups in rural areas, and higher average scores in five subject areas, Thai language, mathematics, life experiences, character development, and work education (Pasigna, 1986). However, because mastery learning and programmed instructional materials minimize teachers' direct instruction, they require literacy skills and self-initiative, and may have limited use in the early grades (Thiagarajan & Pasigna, 1988). The adoption of these approaches also requires an efficiently administrated system to develop the materials, distribute them, and to provide assessment and feedback. As adequate literacy and efficient delivery systems are not common in developing countries, these self-instructional materials have limited applications and the role of the teacher remains central to the student learning process.

Instructional materials produced by government or commercial publishers, which are developed to serve the official curriculum and to attain national, cultural, and educational goals, may or may not meet the personal needs of teachers and students. For this reason, educators have advocated that teachers produce their own materials, on the grounds that they are in the best position to know which materials and teaching methods are most effective in their classrooms (Hawes, 1976). Teacher produced instructional materials are likely to reflect teachers' beliefs, perceptions and expectations about their students, and serve "as a source of ideas, guides to planning, and definition for what is possible" (Kerr, 1981:368). Unfortunately, they are also likely to vary in quality, introducing inequalities in the quality of instruction provided across classrooms and schools. This problem can be offset either by supervision of teachers to ensure common high standards of quality, or by district-wide workshops with teachers to ensure uniform quality and application.

Expecting teachers to create instructional materials, however, presupposes the teacher's knowledge of instructional development and production techniques. A study of Australian elementary school teachers' knowledge and use of social studies curriculum materials finds that most teachers have very little involvement in materials development, show little interest in the content, and are mostly concerned with meeting course requirements when selecting topics (Marsh, 1984). Therefore, training teachers to develop instructional materials from locally available resources is necessary (Komoski, 1980). While teacher resource centers to produce



...training teachers to develop instructional materials from locally available resources is necessary.

teacher-made materials have been developed in Ghana, they have been underutilized due to poor communication and management (Kyei-Anti, 1983). Instead, it appears that optimum conditions for developing materials may be found in school-based clusters which work jointly with the community at large. Both pre- and in-service training programs could be organized for teachers to encourage them to produce their own instructional materials.

Teacher Training

The teacher is one of the most important factors in helping students learn, given that the more scarce the resources, the more innovative the teacher must be. To compensate for adverse working conditions, teacher training is of vital importance. Recent literature suggests that pre-service training is less useful than in-service training because the trainees have no relevant experience in a real setting, whereas inservice training is more effective with unqualified. practicing teachers (Verspoor and Leno, 1986). Inservice Education and Training of Teachers (INSET) has been seen as a means of revitalizing general morale within the teaching profession as a whole since it provides a lifelong, ongoing process for gaining acceptability for educational change and reform. One of the major trends in INSET is to shift the base of training from specialist institutions to individual schools and to focus on their needs. New and low cost in-service teacher training strategies use study circles, or clusters, and networks to disseminate new ideas and innovative practices. In these clusters and networks, teachers participate in identifying training needs and develop instructional materials to deal with local problems. Thailand, Sri Lanka, and the Philippines have developed successful models of this kind of teacher training. Simulation and peer c tique are also found to be very effective in improving teaching practices.

Other options to consider are distance education, and the mobile teacher training units which are often established to support correspondence study (Guthrie, 1985). Radio can also be used as a form of on-the-job training, although it has more implications for curriculum reform.

As multigrac's classrooms are a common feature in developing countries, this issue must be addressed in relation to effective teaching and classroom management. Stromquist (1982) has shown that multigrade teaching makes teachers individualize instruction and play the role of tutor rather than lecturer.

In addition, multigraded classes increase the size of the school, and several research studies suggest that the efficiency of the school increases until a certain size is reached (about 200 at the elementary level). Bray (1987) lists some possibilities for multigrade teaching which include a different arrangement of desks and two sets of blackboards for addressing students in different grade levels. The use of paraprofessionals, aides, and older children as tutors for younger children also helps to give more attention to individual students.

The teacher training curriculum should provide a knowledge of content areas, time management skills, instructional strategies, organizing skills, interpersonal skills, and techniques for producing simple instructional materials. Since teaching is directive, active, engaging, and complex, incorporating both social and academic domains, teacher training that extends this sensitivity is most useful.

Research has indicated that it is how teachers use instructional materials that makes an impact on learning (Luna, 1986; Schiefelbein, Farrell and Sepulveda-Stuardo, 1983). Too often, teachers make students recite from textbooks, and encourage passive learning. Therefore, training teachers to use instructional materials to engage students in active learning is very important (Komoski, 1980). Teachers should also be trained to select instructional materials that are appropriate to the levels of their students.

Researchers have suggested that teachers in developing countries become involved in the production of instructional materials for local-level use in rural schools, since it is assumed that teachers are in the best position to know which materials and teaching methods would have the most positive effects on achievement (Hawes, 1976).

Policy Recommendations

• Student time-on-task can be increased by activities that engage the student while the teacher is busy on other matters. These include seatwork (use of notebooks, workbooks, exercise sheets, assignments), homework, and self-instructional materials. The effectiveness of seatwork depends on the quality of the materials (that is, the substantive content) given to the students. The effectiveness of homework in terms of learning outcomes is increased considerably by:

a) parental participation with students in the homework. This clearly depends on the educational level of the parents and their disposition. Teaching



New and low cost in-service teacher training strategies use study circles, or clusters, and networks to disseminate new ideas and innovative practices.

parents how to instruct their children at home has an appreciable impact on learning in school.

- b) prompt feedback by teachers with respect to student performance on homework. Self-instructional materials (e.g., programmed instruction booklets) can be very effective, but considerable investment is required in the design and development of the materials. Over time the investment in development of these resterials can prove to be cost-effective.
- The proper utilization of any new technology of instruction requires training. This is true for teacher use of seatwork, homework, and even self-instructional materials. Teacher training is, therefore, an essential component for any of the policy options discussed. Research has not discussed which kinds of training are most appropriate.
- In countries in which most students do not now have textbooks, provision of textbooks is the most cost-effective way to improve learning outcomes. Textbooks have this effect for several reasons, in part because they permit students (and teachers) to spend

more time on academic tasks and in part because they are more likely than other materials to be closely linked to the official curriculum.

• Textbooks can be used in ways that do not raise levels of learning. Training teachers in methods of textbook utilization can significantly increase the contribution of textbooks to increased learning outcomes. Textbooks should not be introduced without traini. in their utilization.

A Summary of Research on Academic Impact of Instruction : Materials

	Academic Impact		
Instructional Materials	High Moderate Low		
Availability	x		
Use	x		
Relevance	x		
Textbooks	x		



Section V: Conclusion: Policy Options

The thesis of this review has been that some gains in learning outcomes can be produced by a more judicious use of existing resources; that is, without large expenditures on education. I have argued that teachers are the central actors in any program in improve learning outcomes, because they have the most effect on learning in classrooms, and can also have some effects on learning outside the classroom. The methods that teachers employ in utilizing resources for the teaching-learning process were defined as classroom management practices.

This final section summarizes the results of the previous discussion in terms of policies that have a direct effect on instructional time, policies that affect the use of instructional time through instructional materials, and policies that attempt to increase teachers' skills in classroom management.



Improving teachers' use of what is already available or improving their design skills can increase quality without increasing overall costs.

Instructiona! Time

- Teacher absenteeism can be reduced by policies that:
 - a) place teachers close: to their family residence.
 - b) increase supervision of teachers by headmasters or supervisors.
 - c) reduce the need for teachers to be absent from school to arrange salaries, promotions, transfers, etc. This can be done by supervisors or headmasters instead.
 - d) provide incentives to teachers in terms of their career orientations. Example: workshops to exchange information on pedagogy, etc.

- Student absenteeism can be reduced by policier that:
 - a) increase learning, thereby reducing failure and repetition. This can be done through readiness programs such as preschool; by changing promotion standards where there is a high repetition rate; or by improving students' ability to pass, through improving teaching and offering remedial programs.
 - b) provide material incentives for attendance such as free lunch, health care, and uniforms.
 - c) include more radical steps such as non-graded curricula, or a broadening of the definition of desirable learning to include social and affective skills as well as academic skills.
- Central policies can affect how teachers use their time in classrooms:
 - a) by reducing time spent on non-instructional matters. Example: policies that relieve teachers of administrative duties by reassigning them to supervisors and aides.
 - b) by providing incentives for attention to the instructional task. Example: policies that reward teachers for academic performance of students (e.g., on a standardized test).
 - c) by providing instructions on how teachers should spend their time. Example: teacher guides and manuals that clearly specify how teachers should conduct their classes.
 - d) through training, both pre-service and inservice, that instructs teachers in methods and strategies for effective instruction.
- Policies can also affect teacher involvement in how students employ their time outside the classroom:
 - a) by training teachers to assign more homework and to provide feedback to students about it.
 - b) by motivating parents to increase their involvement in their children's learning at home. Parents can't teach children to read if they don't know how to read. However, teachers/supervisors may train parents through special meetings or training sessions.



Instructional Materials

Improvements in the supply and in the quality of instructional materials can affect both the amount of time spent on instruction and learning, and the efficiency (or quality) of that time.

- a) Research shows that the single most important instructional material is the textbook.
- b) Expendable instructional materials and equipment such as blackboard, chalk, pencils, maps, dictionary, etc., increase time-on-task (Windham, 1985).
- c) Teachers can introduce local materials that also help to improve the quality (relevance) of the instructional process (Laesa, 1983).
- d) The contribution of improvements in the quality and quantity of instructional materials to improved learning outcomes can be increased considerably by training teachers in their utilization.

Policymakers usually consider the production of instructional materials an important aspect of the educational system. These materials not only enhance the qualitative aspects of educational services, but are also a means to promote citizenship and national integration. A common goal of many national plans has been the local production of official textbooks to promote nationalism.

In addition, if they are distributed free, as in Mexico, or heavily subsidized, it has been assumed that textbooks provide greater educational opportunities to those children whose parents cannot afford school supplies. However, materials alone are insufficient to make an impact on learning. They must be efficiently used by teachers, who will usually need special training to do so. If, textbooks do make an important difference in academic achievement, as has already been documented, policymakers should not think only in an additive way. More does not necessarily mean better. How teachers actually usthe existing instructional materials varies widely from teacher to teacher, and this variable has the greatest impact on achievement. Where it is not possible for the teacher to be a creative agent by designing his or her own materials - which requires special skills and knowledge - instructional materials should be selected carefully so they fit the curriculum goals and type of student.

Knowledge of what is available and what impact

it has on learning may avoid a bias towards considering textbooks as the most important material. Improving teachers' use of what is already available or improving their design skills can increase quality without increasing overall costs. Consequently, increasing the teacher's classroom management skills could improve the internal efficiency of schooling, and maximize the value of existing instructional materials by making better use of them.

This is important, given that between 80 and 90% of the education budget is usually spent on teacher and administrative salaries. Very limited economic resources can be allocated to the production and development of instructional materials, and most developing countries will not be able to increase their educational budget in the near future. These economic realities limit the alternatives to: asking for international aid in order to produce local textbooks, as has been the case with projects run by international agencies like the World Bank, UNESCO, and USAID and; developing low-cost innovative systems, where it is possible to increase the teacher/student ratio, and at the same time, promote quality, or modifying existing teacher training programs to emphasize local development of instructional materials.

To enhance academic schievement through educational materials, policymakers will have to consider low cost alternatives because few developing countries are able to produce a set of materials for each pupil for each school year. As a consequence, options such as producing inexpensive books designed to be used by many pupils for some years (i.e. comic books, newsprint materials, etc.), promoting the implementation of low cost learning systems, and enhancing teachers' ability to design their own materials (making use of local raw materials) may be preferred choices.

However, policymakers need to take into account several points:

- a) In most systems, the teacher is the single most important agent in the educational process, because traditional strategies are based on teachers' control of classroom interactions and allocation of learning resources.
- b) Parental preference for traditional teaching strategies may preclude the introduction of innovative measures to deal with student absenteeism and drop out.
- c) The production of new instructional materials should be coordinated with training teachers in the design, selection, and use of the materials.



d) Education is a human-intensive process requiring intervention and monitoring; thus the use of unconventional materials and methods such as programmed instruction and mastery learning should be properly managed by teachers. Teacher training is an investment in teachers' skills and knowledge for classroom management. Enhancing the quality of instruction and management will reduce the need for investment in expensive materials.

The idea of classroom management is doubleedged: it can be used by policymakers as a control to obligate teachers to follow strict schedules, pedagogy, curriculum orientation, etc. But in a larger sense, the idea of classroom management is a tool for strengthening the teacher's knowledge of her/his role. By becoming more aware of this role, and the interactive aspects of the teaching-learning process, teachers enhance the students' ability to learn.

Instructional strategies and the allocation of learning resources present challenging tasks for the educational attainment of developing countries. Yet, because policymakers and researchers alike are concerned with finding the most efficient and effective means for providing quality education, it seems that the investment in teachers' management capabilities may be a small price to pay, with greater returns on the investment than any other present course of action.



Classroom Management: Instructional Strategies and the Allocation of Learning Resources

Bibliography

Alexander, K.L.; Fennessey, J.; McDill, C.L.; & D'Amico, R.J. "School SES Influence — Composition or Context?" Sociology of Education, 52, 1979, pp. 222-237.

Altbach, P. G. The Knowledge Context: Comparative Perspectives on the Distribution of Knowledge. Albany: State University of New York Press, 1987.

Anderson, L.; Brubaker, N.; Alleman-Brooks, J.; & Duffy, G. "Students' Responses to Classroom Instruction: Final Report, NII'-G-80-0073." East Lansing: The Institute for Research on Teaching, 1983.

Anderson, L. W. "A Retrospective and Prospective View of Bloom's Learning for Mastery." In M.C. Wang & H.J. Walberg (Eds.), Adapting Instruction to Individual Differences. Berkeley, CA: McCutcheon Publishing Corp, 1985.

Anderson, S.L. "Does Time on Task Work for Teacher Training Too?" Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Montreal, Canada (ERIC # ED 243 839), 1983.

Anderson, S.L., & Lorin, W. "The Classroom Environmental Study: Teaching for Learning." Comparative Education Review, 31(1), 1987, pp. 69-87.

Ankrah-Dove, L. "The Deployment and Training of Teachers for Remote Rural Schools in Less-Developed Countries." International Review of Education, 27, 1382, pp. 3-27.

Anyon, J. "Schools as Agencies of Social Legitimation." International Journal of Political Education, 4(August), 1981.

Apple, M "Making Knowledge Legitimate: Power, Profit and the Textbook." In A. Molnar (Ed.), Current Thought of Curriculum. Alexandria, VA: ASCD Yearbook, 1985.

Arancibia, V. et al. "Manejo Instruccional del Professor en la Sala de Classes: Revision del Estado del Arte." Santiago, Chile: BRIDGES Project, Mimeo, 1986.

Arlin, M. "Teacher Transitions Can Disrupt Time Flow in Classrooms." American Educational Research Journal, 16, 1979, pp. 42-56.

Arlin, M. "Time Variability in Mastery Learning." American Educational Research Journal, 21(1), 1984, pp. 103-120.

Arlin, M. & Webster, J. "Time Costs of Mastery Learning." University of British Columbia: *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75(2), 1983, pp. 187-195.

Avalos, B. "Training for Better Teaching in the Third World: Lessons from Research." Teaching and Teacher Education, 1(4), 1985, pp. 289-299.

Barr, R. & Dreeben, R. "Sociological Perspective of School Time." In C.W. Fisher & D.C. Berliner (Eds.), Perspectives of Instructional Time. New York: Longman, 1985.

Bennett, N. et al. Teaching Styles and Pupil Progress. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1976.

Berliner, D.C. "Tempus Educare." In P.L. Peterson & H.J. Ealberg (Eds.), Conceptions of Teaching. Chicago, IL: National Society for the Study of Education, 1978.

Berliner, D.C. "The Half-Full Glass: A Review of Research on Teaching." In P.L. Hosford (Ed.), Using What We Know About Teaching. Washington: A.S.C.D., 1984.

Bloom, B.S. "Learning from Mastery." Reprinted in C.W. Fisher & D.C. Ber': (Eds.), Perspectives of Instructional Time. New York: Longman, 1968.



Bloom, B.S. Human Characteristics and School Learning. New York: McGraw Hill, 1976.

Borg, W.R., & Ascione, F.R. "Changing On-Task, Off-Task and Disruptive Pupil Behavior in Elementary Mainstreaming Classrooms." Journal of Educational Research, 72, 1979, pp. 243-252.

Bossert, S.T. Tasks and Social Relationships in Classrooms. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1979.

Brenes, M.; Campos, N.; Garcia, N.; & Rojas, M. "Interaccion Verbal cu el Aula: Analisis Micro-Etnogratico en una Escuela de una Comunidas Urbano-Marginal en Costa Rica." Primer Encuentro Centro Americano y Cuarto Encuentro Nacional de Investigadores en Educacion. CIPET, Alajnela, Costa Rica, October 1-3, 1987.

Brophy, J. Classroom Organization and Management. East Lansing: The Institute for Research of Teaching, Michigan State University, Occasional Paper No. 54, 1982.

Brophy, J. "Teacher Effects Research and Teacher Quality." Journal of Classroom Interaction, 22(1), 1986, pp. 14-23.

Brophy, J. & Good, T. L. "Teacher Behavior and Student Achievement." In M.C. Wittrock (Ed.), Handbook of Research on Teaching: Third Edition. New York: MacMillan Publishing, 1986.

Brophy, J.; Rohrkemper, M.; Rashid, H.; & Goldberger, M. "Relationships Between Teachers' Presentations on Classroom Tasks and Students' Engagement in Those Tasks." Michigan State University: Institute for Research of Teaching, 1982.

Calderhead, J. Teachers' Classroom Decision Making. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1984.

Carroll, J.B. "A Model of School Learning." Teachers' College Record, 64(8), 1963, pp. 723-733.

Carroll, J.B. "A Model of School Learning." In Charles W. Fisher and David C. Berliner (Ed.), Perspectives on Instructional Time. New York: Longman, 1985.

Cazden, C.B.; Carrasco, R.; Maldonado-Guzman, A.A.; & Erickson, E. "The Contribution of Ethnographic Research to Bicultural Bilingual Education." In J. Alatis (Ed.), Current Issues in Bilingual Education. Washington, DC: Georgetown University Roundtable on Language and Linguistics, 1980.

Chapman, D.A., & Boothroyd, R. Programmed. Instruction as a Means of Improving Student Achievement: A Look ctt'se Liberial IEL Project. Albany, NY: State University of New York at Albany, 1986.

Chesterfield, R. "Effects of Environmentally Specific Materials of Reading in Brazilian Rural Primary Schools." The Reading Teacher, December, 1978, pp. 312-315.

Clark, Carol A. M., & Yinger, R.H. "The Hidden World of Teaching: Implications of Research on Teacher Planning." (Research Series No. 77). East Lansing: Michigan State University, Institute for Research on Teaching, 1980.

Cleminshaw, H.K., & Guidubaldi, J. "The Effect of Time and Structure on Kindergarten Student Social and Academic Performance." The Journal of Educational Research, 73(2), 1979, pp. 92-101.

Cobb, J.A. "The Relationship of Discrete Class-room Behaviors to Fourth-Grade Academic Growth." Journal of Educational Psychology, 63, 1976, pp. 74-80.

Cooley, W.W., & Mao, B.J. "The Sample of Classroom Time Observed." Journal of Classroom Interaction, 17(1), 1981, pp. 31-36.

Cotton, K., & Savard, W.G. Time Factors in Learning. Research of School Effectiveness Project, Topic Summary Report. Portland: Alaska Department of Education, Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory. (ERIC #ED 214 706), 1981.

Cculter, F. "Homework: A Neglected Research Area." British Educational Research Journal, 5(1), 1979, pp. 21-33.

Cronbach, J.L., & Snow, R.E. Aptitudes and Instructional Methods: A Handbook for Research on Interactions. New York: Irvington, 1977.



Crossley, M., & Guthrie, G. "Current Research in Developing Countries: INSET and the Impact of Examinations on Classroom Practice." Teaching and Teacher Education, 3(2), 1987, p. 68.

Dahloff, U. Ability Grouping, Content Validity and Curriculum Process Analysis. New York: Teachers' College Press, 1971.

Davidson, J.L., & Holley, F.M. "Your Students Might be Spending Only Half of the School Day Receiving Instruction." The American School Board Journal, 1979(March), pp. 40-41.

Denham, C., & Lieberman, A. (Eds.) Time to Learn. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Institute of Education, 1980.

Doane, B.S. "The Effects of Homework and Locus of Control on Arithmetic Skills Achievement in Fourth Grade." *Doctoral Dissertation*, Abstracts International, 73-8160, New York University, 1972.

Doyle, W. "Classroom Organization and Management." In D. Wittrock (Ed.), Handbook on Research in Teaching: Third Edition. New York: MacMillan, 1986.

Duffy, G. "Theory to Practice. How Does it Work in Real Classrooms?" Research Theories No. 98. East Lansing: Institute for Research o 1 Teaching, Michigan State University, 1981, pp. 1-24.

Dutcher, N. "The Use of First and Second Languages in Primary Education: Selected Case Studies." Washington, DC: The World Bank, Staff Working Paper No. 504, 1982.

Dworkin, A. G. "The Changing Demography of Public School Teachers: Some Implications for Faculty Turnover in Urban Areas." The Sociology of Education, 53(April), 1980, pp. 65-73.

Edmonds, R.R. "Effective Schools for the Urban Poor." Educational Leadership, 1979, p. 37.

Elliot, P.G. "Update on Teacher Absenteeism." The Practitioner, 8(2), 1982, pp. 1-12.

Featherstone, H. "Homework." The Harvard Educational Letter, 1(1), 1985, pp. 1-3.

Filby, N.N., & Cahen, L.S. "Teacher Accessibility and Student Attention." In C.W. Fisher & D.C. Berliner (Eds.), Perspectives on Instructional Time. New York: Longman, 1985.

Fisher, C.W. et al. "Teaching Behaviors, Academic Learning Time and Student Achievement: An Overview." In Denham and A. Lieberman (Eds.), Time to Learn. Washington, DC: NIE, 1980.

Frederick, W.C. "Use of Classroom Time in High Schools Above or Below the Median Reading Score." Urban Education, 11, 1977, pp. 459-464.

Frederick, W.C., & Walberg, H.J. "Learning as a Function of Time." The Journal of Educational Research, 73(Mar/Apr.), 1980, pp. 183-194.

Fuller, B. "Raising School Quality in Developing Countries: What Investments Boost Learning?" Washington, DC: The World Bank, Education and Training Department, Report No. EDT7, 1985.

Fuller, B. "Observing School Qualities in the Third World: A Note on Methods." Washington, DC: The World Bank, 1986.

Gettinger, M. "Effects of Learner Ability and Instructional Modifications of Time Needed for Learning and Retention." Journal of Educational Research, 76(6), 1983, pp. 362-369.

Githiora, W. Personal communication, 1987.

Good, T. "Research of Classroom Teaching." In L. Shulman & G. Sykes (Eds), Handbook of Teaching and Folicy. New York: Longman, 1983.

Gore, D.A., & Roumagoux, D.V. "Wait-Time as a Variable in Sex-Related Differences During Fourth-Grade Mathematics Instruction." *Journal of Educational Research*, 76(5), 1983, pp. 273-275.

Graden, J.; Thurlow, M.L.; & Ysseldyke, J.E. Academic Engaged Time and its Relationship to Learning: A Review of the Literature. Institute for Research on Learning Disabilities, Monograph No. 17, January. (ERIC # ED 228 290), 1982.

Guerra, Pena, A. "Algunos Modelos Didactics." Revista Educativa de la Iglesia Metodista en Bolivia. No. 2, II. Praxis Metodista, December 1986.



Guida, F; Ludlow, L.H.; and Wilson, M. "Academic Anxiety, Time-on-Task, and Achievement: A Structural Model." Paper presented at the American Educational Research Association Meeting, Montreal, Canada. (ERIC # ED 228-290), April, 1983.

Guthrie, G. "Current Research in Developing Countries: The Impact of Curriculum Reform on Teaching." Teaching and Teacher Education, 2(1), pp. 81-89.

Haddad, Wadi D. "Educational and Economic F cets of Promotion and Repetition Practices." Washington, DC: The World Bank, Staff Working Paper No. 319, 1979.

Halpern, M., & Myers, R. "Effects of Early Childhood Intervention on Primary Schools Progress and Performance in the Developing Countries." Washington DC: USAID Bureau for Program and Policy Coordination, 1985.

Hanson, R.A., & Schutz, R.E. "The Effects of Programmatic R & D on Schooling and the Effects of Schooling on Students." Technical Report 53, Southwest Regional Laboratory for Educational Research and Development, 1975.

Harnischfeger, A., & Wiley, D.E. "The Teaching-Learning Process in Elementary Schools: A Synoptic View." *Curriculum Inquiry*, 6(1), 1976, pp. 5-43.

Harnischfeger, A., & Wiley, D.E. "Origins of Active Learning Time." In C.W. Fisher and D.C. Berliner (Eds.), *Perspectives on Instructional Time*. New York: Longman, 1985.

Harnqvist, K. "Changes in Intelligence from 1 to 18." Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, No. 9, 1968, pp. 50-82.

Hawes, H.W.R. "Locally Based Educational Research and Curriculum Development in Developing Countries - The Teacher's Role." UNESCO, International Institute for Educational Planning, 1976.

Hawkinson, H. "Hatch School Not at Risk." Phi Delta Kappa, 66, (3), 1984, pp. 181-187.

Henry, J. Culture Against Man. New York: Vintage Books, 1963.

Heyneman, S.B.; Farrel, J.P.; & Sepulveda-Stuardo, M.A. "Textbooks and Achievement: What We Know." Washington, DC: The World Bank, Staff Working Paper No. 298, 1978.

Heyneman, S.B., & Loxley, W. "The Effect on Primary School Quality of Academic Achievement Across Twenty-Nine High and Low-Income Countries." *American Journal of Sociology*, 8(6), 1983, pp. 1162-1194.

Heyneman, S.; Jamison, D.T.; & Montenegro, X. "Textbooks in the Philippines: Evaluation of the Pedagogical Impact on a Nationwide Investment." Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 6(2), 1984, pp. 139-150.

Hiscox, S. et al. How to Increase Learning Time. Washington, DC: Department of Education. (ERIC # Ef 254 522), 1982.

Hornberger, N.H. Schooltime, Classtime and Academic Learning Time in Rural Highland Puno, Peru. Unpublished paper. University of Pennsylvania, Graduate School of Education, 1987.

Husen, T. "Does More Time i. School Make a Difference?" Saturday Review, April, 1972, pp. 32-35.

Hyman, H.H.; Wright, C.R.; & Reed, J.S. The Enduring Effect of Education. Chicago: University of Chicago, 1975.

Jackson, P. Life in Classrooms. New York: Holy, Reinhart and Winston, 1968.

Karweit, N.L. "Organization of Time in Schools: Time Scales and Learning." Paper presented at NIE Conference on Productivity, San Diego, 1978.

Karweit, N. "Time-on-Task: A Research Review." Center for Social Organization on Schools, Report No. 332. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University, 1983.

Karweit, N. "Should We Lengthen the School Term?" Educational Researcher. June/July, 1985.

Karweit, N. "Time Scales, Learning Events, and Productive Instruction." In C.W. Fisher and D.C. Berliner (Eds.), Perspectives on Instructional Time. New York: Longman, 1985.



Karweit, N.L., & Slavin, R.E. "Measurement and Modeling Choices in Studies on Time and Learning." American Educational Research Journal, 18(2), 1981, pp. 157-171.

Keith, T.Z. "Time Spent on Homework: A High School Grades: A Large Sample Path Analysis." Journal of Educational Psychology, 74(2), 1982, pp. 248-253.

Kelly, G.P., & Altbach, P.G. "Comparative Education: Challenge and Response." Comparative Education Review, 30(1), 1986.

Kerr, S. "How Teachers Design Their Materials: Implications for Instructional Design." *Instructional Science*, 10, 1981, pp. 363-378.

Komoski, P. K. "What Curriculum Leaders Need to Know About Selecting Instructional Materials." Atlanta: The Annual Meeting of the Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, 1980.

Koskenniemi, M., & Komulainen, E. "Learning Materials and the Instructional Process." *Didakometry*, No. 66, 1982, pp. 1-42.

Kulik, C.; Shwarb, B.J.; & Kulik, J.A. "Programmed Instruction in Secondary Education." Journal of Educational Research, 1982, pp. 133-138.

Kyei-Anti, B. Contribution of Teachers' Resources to the Improvement of Primary Education in Ghana. Nairobi, Kenya: ACO Project, 1983.

LaConte, R.T. Homework as a Learning Experience (What Research Says to the Teacher). Washington, DC: National Education Association, 1901.

Leach, D.J., & Tunnelcliffe, M.R. "The Relative Influence of Time Variables on Primary Mathematics Achievement." Australian Journal of Education. Vol. 28, No. 2, 1984, pp. 26-33.

Lee, D. et al. "Successful Practices in High-Poverty Schools." Study of the Effects of Compensatory Education on Basic Skills, Technical Report No. 1, System Development Corporation, 1981.

Lee, J.F., & Pruit, W.K. "Homework Assignments: Lesson Games or Teaching Tools?" Clearing House, 53(September), 1979, pp. 31-35.

Levin, H.M. "Clocking Instruction: A Reform Whose Time Has Come?" Stanford, CA: Stanford University Institute for Research on Educational Finance and Governance. (ERIC #ED 245 318), 1984.

Levin, H.M. "About Time for Educational Reform." Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 6(2), 1984, pp. 151-163.

LeVine, R.A. "Influences of Women's Schooling on Maternal Behavior." Comparative Educational Review, June, 1980.

Lockheed, M.E. School and Classroom Effects on Student Learning Gain: The Case of Thailand. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Washington, DC, April 20-24, 1987.

Luna, E.; Gonzales, S.; & Wolfe, R. "The Underdevelopment of Educational Achievement: Mathematica Achievement in the Dominican Republic Eighth-Grade." Manuscript for publication, 1986.

Lyon, M.A. "Learning Rate Differences for Knowledge, Comprehension, and Application Tasks". Research report presented at the Annual Convention of the National Association of School Psychologists, Philadelphia, PA, April (ERIC # ED 252 303), 1984.

Maertons, N., & Johnson, J. "Effects of Arithmetic Homework Upon the Attitude and Achievement of Fifth and Sixth Grade Pupils." School Science and Mathematics, No. 72, 1972, pp. 117-126.

Mali, S.R. "A Study on Drop-Outs in Primary Schools in Pakistan: A Sample Survey." Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Education, Academy of Educational Planning and Management Research Study No. 20, 1985.

Marsh, C.J. "Teachers' Knowledge of and Use of Social Studies Curriculum Materials in Public Elementary Schools." *Journal of Educational Research*, 77(4), 1984, pp. 237-243.

Martin, O., & Canty, A. "Instructional Behaviors that Enable Teachers to Maximize Allocated Classroom Time." Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Mid-South Educational Research Association in New Orleans, November (ERIC # ED 20) 580), 1980.



McDermott, R.P.; Goldman, S.V.; & Varenne, H. "When School Goes Home: Some Problems in the Organization of Homework." Teachers' College Record, 85(3), 1984, pp. 391-409.

McDill, E.L.; Natriello, G.; & Pallas, A.M. Raising Standards and Retaining Students: The IM-PACT of the Reform Recommendations on Potential Dropouts. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University, Center for Social Organization of Schools, 1985.

McDill, E.L., & Rigby, L.C. Structure and Process in Secondary Schools: The Academic Impact of Educational Climates. Baltimore, MD The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1979.

McNamarra, D.R. "Attention, Time-on-Task, and Children's Learning: Research or Ideology?" Journal on Education for Teaching, 7(3), 1981, pp. 284-297.

Medley, D.M. "Teacher Effectiveness." Encyclopedia of Educational Research. 1982, pp. 1894-1903.

Mehan, H. Learning Lessons: Social Organization in the Classroom. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1979.

Montero, M. (Ed.) Bilingual Teacher Education Handbook: Strategies for the Design of Multicultural Curriculum. Cambridge, MA: National Assessment and Dissemination Center for Bilingual and Bicultural Education, 1979.

Montero-Sieburth, M. Data collection in Costa Rican classrooms during 1983, 1986, 1987 under the auspices of the Organization of American States, the University of Costa Rica and the National University in Heredia, and Development Technologies, Inc. of Washington, D.C.

Montero-Sieburth, M. Personal communication, 1986.

Montero-Sieburth, M. "La Educacion General en Costa Rica: La Aplicacion del Curriculum." Informe Especial del Proyecto de Asistencia Tecnica, Banco Mundial/Ministerio de Plainficacion, Prestanio 2509, Componente No. 4, April 1988. Montero-Sieburth, M., & Loera-Vaerla, A. Participant observation of Guatemalan classrooms under the auspices of BRIDGES Project, Harvard University, August 1986.

Moore, J.E. "Assessing Time-on Task: Measurement Problems and Solutions." Paper presented at the Joint Meeting of the Evaluation Network and Evaluation Research Society, Chicago, (ERIC # ED 237-574), October 20, 1983.

Moore, J.E. "Measuring and Increasing Time-On-Task: A Cost Effective Approach." Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, Illinois, 1985.

Mudjiman, H. "Effectiveness of Learning Modules and Feer Tutors in Student Learning." Teaching Yourself in Primary School: Report on a Seminar on Self-Instructional Programs. Ottawa, Canada: International Development Research Centre, 1981, pp. 81-91.

Mueller, D.J. "Mastery Learning: Partly Boon, Partly Boondoggle." *Teachers' College Record*, No. 78, 1976, pp. 41-52.

Munoz-Izquierdo, C., et al. "El Sindromo del Atraso Escolar y el Abandono del Sistema Educativo." Revista Latinoamericana de Estudios Educativos, 9(3), 1979, pp. 1-60.

Neumann, P.H. "Publishing for Schools, Textbooks and the Less Developed Countries." Staff Working Paper No. 398, Washington, DC: World Bank, 1980.

Neumann, P.H., & Cunningham, M.A. Mexico's Free Textbooks, Nationalism and the Urgency to Educate. Staff Wo. ang Papers, Washington, DC: World Bank, No. 541, 1982.

Nichols, D.G. "Low Cost Learning Systems: The General Concept and Some Specific Examples." NSPI Journal, September, 1982, pp. 4-8.

Noli, P. "A Principal Implements an AIT Program." Journal of Classroom Interaction, 17(2), 1979, pp. 22-27.



် ပို့

Oaskeshott, P., & Bradley, C. (Eds.). The Future of the Book, Part I, The Impact of New Technology. Report prepared by the Publishers Association. Paris: UNESCO, 1982.

Pascal, R.A.; Weinstein, T.; & Walberg, H.J. "The Effects of Homework on Learning: A Quantitative Synthesis." *Journal of Educational Research*, 78(2), 1.984, pp. 97-104.

Pearce, D. Textbook Production and Developing Countries: Some Problems of Preparation, Production and Distribution. Paris: UNESCO, 1982.

Pendergrass, R.A. "Homework: Is It Really a Basic?" The Clearing House, 58 (March), 1985, pp. 310-314.

Peterson, P.L., & Clark, C.M. "Teachers' Reports of Their Cognitive Processes During Teaching." American Educational Research Journal, No. 15, 1978, pp. 417-432.

Peterson, P.L.; Swing, S.R.; Stark, K.D.; & Waas, G.A. "Studerts' Cognitions and Time-on-Task During Mathematics Instruction." American Educational Research Journal, 21(3), 1984, pp. 487-515.

Phi Delta Kappa. Time and Learning. Bloomington, IN: Center on Evaluation, Development and Research, 1983-84. (Comprehensive review of reviews on time-on-task, includes the work of Nancy Karweit, David Berliner, Torsten Husen, Barak Rosenshine, Deborah Strother and others).

Philips, S.U. The Invisible Culture: Communication in Classroom and Community on the Warm Springs Indian Reservation. New York: Longman, 1983.

Potar, N. "Project RIT." Lapduri, Thailand: Project RIT, Muang Mai School, 1984.

Prondvost, G. "Time in a Sociological and Historical Perspective." International Social Science Journal, 107, 1986.

Report to the National Research Council Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education. "Non-Cognitive Factors in Education." La Jolla, CA: University of California, San Diego, 1980.

Robinson, J.P. How Americans Use Time: A Sociological-Psychological Analysis of Everyday Behavior. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1977.

Rosenshine, B., & Berliner, D.C. "Academic Engaged Time." British Journal of Teacher Education, 4, 1, 1978, pp. 3-16.

Rosenshine, B.V. "Content, Time and Direct Instruction." Research on Teaching, Concepts, Findings and Implications. Berkeley: McCutcheon Publishing Corporation, 1979, pp. 28-56.

Rowe, M.B. "Wait-Time and Rewards as Instructional Variables, Their Influence on Language, Logic and Fate Control: Part One Wait-Time." Journal of Research on Science Teaching, No. 11, 1974, pp. 81-94.

Roy, A. "Schools and Communities: An Experience in Rural India." International Review of Education, 36(3), 1980, pp. 369-378.

Safilios-Rothschild, C. "Access of Rural Girls to Primary Education in the Third World: State of the Art, Obstacles and Policy Recommendations." Washington, DC: Department of State, United States Agency for International Development, 1979.

Sanford, J.P., & Evertson, C.M. "Time Use and Activities in Junior High Classes." Journal on Educational Research, 76(31), 1983, pp. 140-147.

Sanguinetty, J. "La Educacion General en Costa Rica: La Crisis y sos Posibles Soluciones." Final report to Ministry of Planning, World Bank Project, 2519. Componente No. 4, Development Technologies, Inc., San Jose, Costa Rica. March, 1988.

Schiefelbein, E.; Farrel, J.; & Sepulveda-Stuardo, M. "The Influence of School Resources in Chile: Their Effect on Educational Achievement and Occupation." Washington, DC: World Bank, Staff Working Paper No. 538, 19c.

Schiefelbein, E., & Sim^r. "The Determinants of School Achieve" teview of the Research for Developing Co. Ottawa: International Development Research Centre, 1981.



Searle, B. W., & Mertaugh, M., with Read, A. & Cohen, P. Improving the Quality of Textbooks in China. World Bank Discussion Papers, Washington, DC: World Bank, 1988.

Seifert, E.H., & Beck, J.J. "Time/Learning Relationships in Secondary Schools: A Research Report." Available through ERIC: ED #229 853.2, 1983.

Seifert, E.H., & Beck, J.J. "Relationships Between Task Time and Learning Gains in Secondary School." *Journal of Educational Research*, 78(1), 1984, pp. 5-10.

Shulman, B. "Those Who Understand: A (Inception of Teacher Knowledge." American Educator, 10(1), 1986.

Slavin, R.E. "Cooperative Learning." Review of Education Research, 50(2), 1980, pp. 315-342.

Smith, E.C. Longer School Years: Reform or Illusion? Washington, DC: LEARN, Inc., The Education Foundation (ERIC # ED 247 661), 1983.

Smith, J.W. "Pupil Engaged Learning Time: Co lepts, Findings and Implications." Victoria, Australia: Deakin University, School of Education Occasional Paper, 1979.

Smith, L.M., & Geoffrey, W. The Complexities of an Urban Classroom. New York: Holt, Reinhart and Winston, 1968.

Smith, N.M. "The Relationship Between Time Alloted to Social Studies and Student Achievement in Fifth-Grade Classes of a Tri-County Area of Southern Maryland." Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Maryland. Dissertations Abstracts Internationals, 1978 28:327 A (University Microfilms No. 77-26, 539.) 1976.

Smith, N.M. "Time Allotments and Achievement in Social Studies." Unpublished manuscript. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University, John F. Kennedy Institute for Abilitation, 1976.

Smith, N.M. "Allocation of Time and Achievement in Elementary Social Studies." Journal of Educational Research, 72(4), 1979, pp. 231-236.

Smyth, W.J. "Research on Classroom Management: Studies of Pupil Engaged Learning Time as a Special but Instructive Case." Journal of Education for Teaching, 7(2), 1981, pp. 127-148.

Smyth, J.W. "A Context for the Study of Time and Instruction." In C.W. Fisher and D.C. Berliner (Eds.), *Perspectives on Instructional Time*. New York: Longman, 1985a.

Smyth, J.W. "Time and School Learning." International Encyclopedia of Education, 9. New York: Pergamon Press, 1985b, pp. 5265-5272.

Stallings, J.A. Findings from the Research on Teaching: What We Have Learned. Nashville, TN: Peabody Center for Effective Teaching, Peabody College at Vanderbilt University, 1983.

Stallings, J.A. "Instructional Time and Staff Development: How Useful is Research on Time to Teachers?" In C.W. Fisher and D.C. Berliner (Eds.), Perspectives on Instructional Time. New York: Longman, 1985, pp. 283-299.

Stark, J.S.; Lowther, M.A.; & Austin, A.E. "Teachers' Preferred Time Allocation: Can it be Predicted?" Journal of Experimental Education, 53(3), 1985, pp. 170-183.

Steere, R.F., & Wiley, R.C. "Using Time-on-Task to Supervise and Improve Instruction." Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Association of Teacher Educators, Las Vegas, NV, February 17-20 (ERIC # ED 254-910), 1985.

Stevenson, H. "Comparison of Japanese, Taiwanese and American Mathematics Achievement." Stanford: Center for Advanced Study in the Behavioral Sciences, 1983.

Stevenson, H. "Making the Grade: School Achievement in Japan, Taiwan and the United States." Stanford, CA: Center for Advanced Study in the Behavioral Sciences (ERIC # ED 256 823), 1983.

Strother, D.B. "Another Look at Time-on-Task". *Phi Delta Kappa*, June, 1984.



Tamir, P. "Homework and Science Learning in Secondary Schools." Science Education, 69(5), 1985, pp. 605-615.

Thailand, Ministry of Education. "Classroom Environment Study Report. Phase One: The Correlational Study." Bangkok: Ministry of Education, Department of Teacher Education, 1985.

Thailand, Office of the National Education Commission, Office of the Prime Minister, Bangkok Determinants of Effective Schools: Thailand Country Review. Cambridge, MA: Education Development Discussion Paper No. 1, Harvard University, Project BRIDGES, 1988.

Thiagarajan, S., & Pasigna, A. Literature Review on the Soft Technologies of Learning. Cambridge, MA: Research Report Series No. 2, Harvard University, Project BRIDGES, 1988.

Thomas, J.A. The Productive School: A Systems Analysis Approach to Educational Administration. New York: Wiley, 1971.

Tikunoff, W., & Ward, B. Some Selected Findings from Three Studies. San Francisco, CA: Far West Laboratory for Educational Research and Development, 1976.

Tobin, K.G. "The Effect of Extended Teacler Wait-Time on Science Achievement." Resources Information Center (ERIC # ED 171 577), 1979.

UNESCO. "Universalizing Education: Strategies for the Development and Use of Instructional Materials." Bangkok: Regional Office for Education in Asia (ERIC # ED 182 061), 1979.

UNESCO. "Education of Disadvantaged Groups and Multiple Class Teaching: Studies and Innovative Approaches." Bangkok: Regional Office for Education in Asia and the Pacific, 1980.

UNESCO. "The Dropout Problem in Primary Education: Towards Universalization of Primary Education in Asia and the Pacific - Some Case Studies." Bangkok: Regional Office for Education in Asia and the Pacific, 1984.

Vazquez, J. Z. Nacionalismo y Educacion en Mexico. Mexico, D.F.: El Colegio de Mexico, 1979.

Wang, M.C. "An Analysis of Program Design Implications for Teacher and Student Use of School Time." In C.W. Fisher and D.C. Berliner (Eds.), Perspectives on Instructional Time. New York: Longman, 1985.

Wiley, D. "Another Hour, Another Day: Quantity of Schooling, a Potent Path for Policy." In W. Sewell, R. Hauser & D.L. Featherman (Eds.), Schooling and Achievement in American Society. New York: Academic Press, 1976.

Wiley, D., & Harnischfeger, A. "Explosion of a Myth: Quantity of Schooling and Exposure to Instruction, Major Educational Vehicles." Studies of Educational Processes, Report 8. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago, 1974.

Windham, D.M. "Internal Efficiency and the African School." Paper prepared for the IREDU, University de Dijon, France, 1985, Mimeo.

Wolf, R.M. "Achievement in the United States." In H.J. Walbert (Ed.), Educational Environments and Effects: Educational Policy and Productivity. Berkeley, CA: McCutcheon, 1979.

The World Bank. Education: Sector Policy Paper. Washington, DC: World Bank, 1980.

The World Bank. Education Strategies for Sub-Saharan Africa. Washington, DC: World Bank, 1986.

Yeager, J.L., & Lindvall, C.M. "An Exploratory Investigation of Selected Measures of Rate of Learning." *Journal of Education*, No. 36, 1967, pp. 78-81.

Zeigler, S. "The Effectiveness of Classroom Learning Teams for Increasing Cross-Ethnic Friendships: Additional Evidence." *Human Organization*, 48, 1981, pp. 264-268.



BRIDGES Publications Staff:

Billie Jo Joy, Publications Coordinator Pamela Summa, Editorial Assistant Brenda Salyer, Graphic Designer

For more information about this or other BRIDGES documents, please contact:

30

BRIDGES Publications 442 Gutman Library Harvard University Cambridge, MA 02138 USA (617) 495-9720

or

USAID
Office of Education
Bureau for Science and Technology
Department of State
Washington, D.C. 20523 USA
(703) 235-8980



A program of: USAID, Bureau for Science & Technology Directed by:

The Harvard University Institute for International Development and the Harvard Graduate School of Education

In Cooperation with:

Academy for Educational Planning and Management. Pakistan Centre de Perfectionnement et de Formation en Cours d'Emploi, Burundi Institute for International Research Michigan State University The Open University, Indonesia Research Triangle Institute Texas Southern University

National Education Commission of Thailand National Institute of Education, Sri Lanka USAID Missions and Ministries of Education in Burundi, Egypt, Indonesia, North Yemen, Pakistan, Sri Lanka, and Thailand